ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County
The Honorable Carmen Tevis Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-GS-38-0731

RECEIVED

APR 19 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

vs.

CHARLES THOMAS RILEY,

Appellant,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2016-002123

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. ROBERT BOLCHOZ
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 68383
South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

DAVID M. PASCOE
Solicitor, First Circuit
Post Office Box 1525

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in granting defendant Charles Riley's request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the evidence showed Riley was engaged in unlawful activity, was not attacked, was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty, and had no reasonable fear of imminent death or serious bodily harm?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Charles Riley sought immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act (the Act), S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 *et seq.*, following the shooting death of Lee Edward Green. On September 19-20, 2016, the Honorable Carmen Tevis Mullen conducted a pretrial hearing to determine whether Riley was entitled to immunity. (R. pp. 49–113.) Riley was represented by Bradley Hutto, Esquire. (R. p. 1.) The State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Ashley Cornwell. (R. p. 1.) After hearing from eight witnesses, including Riley, and after hearing argument from both sides, Judge Mullen granted the motion. (R. pp. 1-3; pp. 321-325.)

Thereafter, the State served a timely notice of appeal, which it filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 12, 2016. (R. p. 327). By order of October 18, 2016, and pursuant to Rule 204(a) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, the Supreme Court transferred the appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (R. p. 326.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jeffrey Smith owed \$300 to his friend, Lee Green (the victim). (R. pp. 8-10.) The money was to repay Green for drugs. (R. p. 280, lines 17-20.) Smith attempted to obtain the money in cash from a title loan business, but was unable to do so because he did not have a consistent stream of income. (R. p. 10, line 9 – p. 12, line 9.) According to Smith, the men agreed that Green would hold the title to Smith's truck until Smith was able to repay Green. (R. p. 12, lines 10-14.) Because he was low on gasoline, Smith drove his truck to his nearby niece's house and left the truck parked there. (R. p. 13, lines 1-11.) Green and his friend Keitt, who had followed Smith to the title company and then to his niece's house, gave Smith a ride home. (R. p. 13, lines 12-19.) Smith claimed he accidentally left a copy of his keys in Green's truck. (R. p. 16, lines 10-17.)

The next morning, Smith walked to Charles Riley's home and asked Riley for a ride to his niece's house and some money to purchase gasoline for his truck. (R. p. 14, lines 1-13.) When they men arrived at the house, the men found the truck was gone. (R. p. 14, lines 15-16.) Smith's niece said Green and Keitt had taken the truck earlier. (R. p. 14, lines 17-19.) Smith then asked Riley if he would give him a ride to Green's house so he could repossess his truck, and Riley agreed. (R. p. 15, lines 23-25.) Riley drove Smith to an area near Green's house, but because of a prior history with Green, dropped Smith off two streets down from the house. (R. p. 16, lines 1-5.) The men could see Smith's truck parked in the yard. (R. p. 16, lines 1-7.)

Smith put gasoline into his truck and then drove his truck to Charles Riley's house to park the truck there. (R. p. 17, lines 4-11, Court's Exhibit 1.) After approximately forty-five minutes, Green and Keitt drove up to Riley's driveway as Smith was standing outside. (R. p. 17, line 20 – p. 18, line 5.) Keitt was driving, and Green sat in the passenger side. (R. p. 17, lines 5-

8.) According to Smith, the men drove the truck into the yard and stopped about six feet from Riley's house. (R. p. 19, lines 8-12.) Donnie Green approached Smith, swinging his fists and telling Smith he was going to take the truck. (R. p. 21, line 19 – p. 22, line 4.) Smith argued with Green, telling him he only agreed to allow Green to hold his title until he repaid the loan. (R. p. 22, lines 4-5.)

A few minutes later, Riley came outside and told Green and Keitt to leave. (R. p. 22, lines 10-23.) Green began arguing with Riley, telling Riley he never liked him anyway. (R. p. 23, lines 21-25.) Angela Riley heard the commotion and came outside, as well. (R. p. 24, lines 5-7.) Ms. Riley was a cousin of Donnie Green, but she also told the men to leave. (R. p. 24, lines 9-16.) Smith testified that as the men were arguing, he heard Green tell Riley, "I ain't here to fight with you." (R. p. 49, lines 24-25.) He also claimed he heard Green tell Riley, "I been with you. I been with you. I did this before." (R. p. 26, lines 18-22.) Smith interpreted this statement to refer to a previous encounter in which Green and some other men were "involved in jumping on" Riley.¹ (R. p. 27, lines 1-6.)

Charles Riley went back inside the house. (R. p. 24, lines 1-4.) Green did not follow Riley or start toward the house. (R. p. 43, lines 7-15.) Instead, Green turned to continue arguing with Smith. (R. p.50, lines 2-6.) When Riley returned from inside the house, he was carrying a shotgun. (R. p. 24, line 24 – p. 25, line 7.) Riley descended the steps to the front porch, into the yard, and toward the men's truck. (R. p. 27, lines 10-21.) Riley again told Green to leave and Green "went like he was going to get something out of the car." (R. p. 25, lines 10-14.) Smith said he saw Green reach into the back seat of the car and thought he was going to leave, but then

¹ According to Keitt's interview with an investigator with the Sheriff's Department, Riley was attacked by the men because he was boasting about assaulting his wife, Angela Riley, who was also Keitt's cousin. (Court's Exhibit 1.)

Green “ended up coming back out of it.” (R. p. 31, lines 6-9.) On cross-examination, Smith acknowledged he told police Green “got back into the car.” (R. p. 48, lines 11-13.) Smith turned to tell Ms. Riley to call the police. (R. p. 25, lines 14-15.) While he was turned around, he heard the gun fire. (R. p. 26, lines 1-7.)

Smith thought Riley fired into the air, but then he heard Green saying, “you shot me.” (R. 28, lines 1-2.) Green appeared to be holding his shoulder, and Smith told Keitt to take him to the hospital. (R. p. 28, lines 3-14.) Keitt started the car and the men left. (R. p. 28, lines 15-17.) Riley called 911 and reported the shooting. (R. p. 28, lines 20-25.)

The other bystander presented a slightly different version of the facts. Thomas Keitt explained that even though Smith owed Green \$300, Green paid for all the fees at the Department of Motor Vehicles required to transfer the title to Smith’s truck into Smith’s name. (R. p. 253, lines 6-20.) Smith agreed to hand over the title and possession of his truck to Green after the men learned the title company denied Smith a loan. (R. p. 254, lines 1 – 21.)

Smith drove the truck to his niece’s house, which was two blocks away, and gave the keys and title to Green. (R. p. 254, lines 16-21.) Green asked Keitt to drive the truck to his house, but Keitt declined because it was late at night, and Smith had no insurance on the truck and a fake license plate on the rear of the truck. (R. p. 254, lines 22-24.) The men gave Smith a ride home that night. (R. p. 255, lines 12-17.) The next morning the men bought some gasoline for the truck, drove to the niece’s house to retrieve it, and then drove the truck to Green’s house. (R. p. 256, lines 6-10.) Keitt said Smith fully understood Green would take possession of the truck until Smith repaid the loan, and Green even called Smith Saturday morning to let him know the men had the truck and it was properly secured on Green’s property. (R. p. 256, lines 13 – 24.) Green and Keitt ran some errands later that morning, and when they returned, they realized

Smith had taken the truck. (R. p. 257, lines 1-24.) The men reasoned Smith was likely at a neighbor's or a friend's house, so they drove through the neighborhood looking for him. (R. p. 258, lines 1-9.) The men saw Smith sitting on Riley's front steps. (R. p. 258, lines 10-13.) They drove up into the driveway, and Smith approached the men at the car when they stopped. (R. p. 260, lines 11-24.) Keitt parked with the driver's side door closest to the house, and the passenger's side facing away from Riley's house. (R. p. 261, lines 12-21.)

Green exited the car and pushed Smith. (R. p. 261, lines 1-2.) In return, Smith swung at Green. (R. p. 261, lines 6-7.) According to Keitt, Green and Smith began to "tussle." (R. p. 262, lines 20-21.) Green looked around as if searching for something with which to strike Smith, but he did not pick up anything. (R. p. 262, lines 20-23.) Keitt explained that Green got back into the car at this point, with the passenger window rolled down and his hands by his side. (R. p. 265, line 17 – p. 266, line 8; p. 272, lines 1-4; p. 277, lines 14-18.) Keitt, who had been looking away from the house and focused on Green and Smith, then noticed Riley "coming out" with a gun. (R. p. 262, line 24 – p. 263, line 2; p. 269, lines 2-9.) Riley descended the steps of the porch, walked up to the car, walked past the driver's side and walked around the front of the car to approach Green. (R. p. 269, line 18 – p. 270, line 15.) At this point, Green was in the car, the men were preparing to leave. (R. p. 268, lines 11-14.) Riley asked Green what he was doing in his yard. Green told Riley he was there to ask Smith why he took the truck. (R. p. 263, lines 2-10.) Green told Smith, "I'll catch up with you later, man. I'll get you." (R. p. 277, lines 18-20.) Keitt testified Green never touched or threatened Riley in any manner. (R. p. 265, lines 2-7.) Keitt said Riley asked Green a second time why he was on his property, and Green turned toward Keitt to look at him. (R. p. 263, lines 9-11.) The third time Riley asked Green why he was there, Riley shot Green. In his statement to law enforcement, Keitt reenacted the shooting, indicating

Riley held the gun lower toward his waist when he pulled the trigger. (Court's Exhibit 1.) Keitt also told investigators it seemed Riley was trying to get even with Green for the assault from four years before. (Court's Exhibit 1.) Keitt said none of the shotgun pellets hit him because Green, who was a large man, absorbed the entire blast. (R. p. 265, lines 19-23.)

Green expressed surprise he had been shot by Riley and braced himself in the car. (R. p. 263, lines 12-15.) Keitt saw exposed muscle and internal tissue after a portion of Green's chest wall burst open. (R. p. 265, line 23 p. 266, line 2.) Keitt said blood was everywhere, and he started the car and drove to the hospital. (R. p. 263, lines 13-17.) Green held on to Keitt, who was shouting at Green to stay awake. When Keitt arrived at the hospital, he ran inside to tell the staff his cousin had been shot at close range with a shotgun. (R. p. 263, lines 23-25.) Keitt helped place Green in a bed, and the staff cut away the blood soaked T-shirt Green was wearing. (R. p. 264, lines 5-11.) Green's shirt was not taken into evidence.

Angela Riley testified about the history between her husband and Green. (R. p. 63, lines 13-24.) Ms. Riley said Green and some other men "beat up" her husband four years before, and he was out of work for some time while he recovered from his injuries. (R. p. 63, lines 13-21.) On the day of the shooting, Ms. Riley said her husband told her someone might be coming to the house after he returned from taking Smith to pick up his truck. (R. p. 72, lines 4-14.) When the men arrived, Ms. Riley told her husband to leave it alone and not to go outside. (R. p. 72, line 21 – p. 73, line 3.) Ms. Riley heard Green tell her husband he was not there for him. (R. p. 64, lines 20-23.) Ms. Riley said she saw the men get back into the car, but then she went back inside the house. (R. p. 76, lines 3-5.) Ms. Riley testified she told her husband not to go back outside with the gun. (R. p. 78, lines 2-5.) She did not see the shot; she only heard the shot and heard Green say something about being shot. (R. p. 66, line 12 – p. 67, line 3.) On cross-examination, Ms.

Riley acknowledged she told police in the past her husband has a temper and has assaulted her in the past. (R. p. 70, lines 20.)

Charles Riley, forty-nine years old, testified he had lingering vision problems from the assault by Green and other men four years earlier. (R. p. 85, line 18 – p. 88, line 7.) Riley said he stayed away from Green after the assault. (R. p. 88, lines 12-15.) When Smith asked him for a ride to Green's house to retrieve his truck, Riley told him he would drop Smith off near Green's house, but he would not take Smith directly to Green's yard. (R. p. 90, lines 9-19.) Riley dropped Smith off and went home. (R. p. 90, lines 19-23.) Riley testified that approximately an hour later, he heard a commotion outside in his front yard. (R. p. 91, lines 8-23.) The two men, Green and Keitt, were standing outside of their car. (R. p. 93, lines 1-2.) Riley admitted he inserted himself into the confrontation between the men. (R. p. 108, lines 8-15.) Riley testified Green said, "I've got something coming for you later." (R. p. 93, lines 20-21.) Riley said he turned around, went inside the house, retrieved his gun, loaded with bird-shot. Riley admitted he did not see Green with a weapon or reach for a weapon before he went inside to arm himself. (R. p. 119, lines 20-22.) Riley told his wife he was tired of Green and, despite her protestations that he stay inside, he went outside with the gun. (R. p. 11, lines 8-20.) Riley claims he told the men to leave again. When he saw Green reach for what looked like a weapon to him, Riley shot him. (R. p. 94, line 13 – p. 95, line 6.) Riley's testimony was inconsistent about whether Green pulled something that looked like a gun from the trunk of the car. (R. p. 112, lines 6-10.) Initially he testified the trunk was open, then he claimed he could not remember if the trunk was open or closed when the solicitor asked him how he could see a hand gun around an open trunk. (R. p. 112, lines 14-19.) Riley claimed he shot Green from about two feet away. (R. p. 114, lines 13-22.)

Crime scene analyst testified there was no indication of damage to the interior or exterior of the car from the shotgun blast. (R. p. 147, lines 21-25.) Blood was found in the interior of the car, but it was also found on the outside of the passenger door and the outside of the driver's door. (R. p. 148, lines 8-12.) The analyst testified it was possible the blood on the driver's side door was the victim's blood, but transferred to the driver from the victim when he helped the victim into or out of the car. (R. p. 148, lines 13-25.) Investigators made the following findings on the presence of gunshot residue:

1. Rear driver's side quarter panel near trunk of the car – associated with gunshot residue (R. p. 182, lines 7-11.)
2. Top of the trunk – one particle of gunshot residue, particles consistent with gunshot residue, and particles associated with gunshot residue. (R. p. 183, lines 5-14.)
3. Rear passenger's side quarter panel – gunshot residue, particles consistent with gunshot residue, and particles associated with gunshot residue. (R. p. 184, line 12 – p. 185, line 2.)
4. Front passenger head rest - gunshot residue and particles consistent with gunshot residue. (R. p. 186, lines 15-18.)
5. Passenger's side dashboard – gunshot residue. (R. p. 186, lines 20-22.)
6. Front passenger door interior - gunshot residue, particles consistent with gunshot residue, and particles associated with gunshot residue. (R. p. 188, lines 10-16.)
7. Center console – gunshot residue and a particle consistent with gunshot residue (R. p. 188, line 24 – p. 189, line 2.)

Based on these findings, the State's trace analyst believed the presence and amount of gunshot residue inside the vehicle indicated the victim was either inside the vehicle when he was shot, or standing very close to the open door of the vehicle and shot at close range, within only a few feet. (R. p. 195, line 6 – p. 196, line 22.)

The defense called Robert Tressel as an expert, without objection, qualified in crime scene investigation, homicide investigation, and medical legal death investigation. (R. p. 198, line 4 – p. 202, line 12.) In Tressel's opinion, investigators would have found bird shot pellets inside the car had the victim been shot while sitting in the car. Tressel agreed that the end of the barrel of the shotgun was about two feet from the victim's chest when Riley shot Green. Tressel also opined the wound indicated the gun was mostly level when fired, although the trajectory was angled slightly downward. (R. pp. 212, line 18 – p. 219, line 2.) Tressel theorized the injury to Green's chest that caused the chest wall burst open would have also allowed pellets from the shotgun blast to exit Green's body. (R. p. 228, line 23 – p. 229, line 23.) Based on the failure to find pellets inside the vehicle, the expert opined the gunshot occurred outside the vehicle. (R. p. 229, lines 15-21.) Tressel acknowledged, however, that the unavailability of the victim's shirt meant he did not know for certain whether pellets would have traveled outside Green's chest. (R. p. 237, line 3 – p. 238, line 5.) Tressel also visited the scene and determined the car was parked approximately sixteen feet from the edge of Riley's porch. (R. p. 222, lines 11 – 20.) From the open passenger's door to the front steps of the porch measured twenty feet. (R. p. 223, lines 5-8.) The expert also measured the distance between the window frame of the car and the chest of a man approximately the same size as the victim to be about one foot. (R. p. 224, lines 1-4.)

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in granting defendant Charles Riley’s request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the evidence showed Riley was engaged in unlawful activity, was not attacked, was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty, and had no reasonable fear of imminent death or serious bodily harm.

The statutory scheme under which Riley sought pretrial immunity is the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 *et seq.* The Act provides, “It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A) (2006). The South Carolina Supreme Court has concluded “that the legislature intended defendants be shielded from trial if they use deadly force as outlined under the Act. Immunity under the Act is therefore a bar to prosecution and, upon motion of either party, must be decided prior to trial.” *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011). In the instant case, following the pre-trial hearing Riley was granted immunity pursuant to subsection (C) because the shooting occurred in another place Riley had a right to be, or, the front yard of his home. However, the trial court abused its discretion in granting Riley’s request for immunity because the evidence showed Riley was not attacked by Green, was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty, and was not reasonable in any belief he was in imminent danger of death or bodily injury.

Analysis

The common law Castle Doctrine provides “[o]ne attacked, without fault on his part, on his own premises, has the right, in establishing his plea of self-defense, to claim immunity from the law of retreat, which ordinarily is an essential element of that defense.” *State v. Gordon*, 128 S.C. 422, 425, 122 S.E. 501, 502 (1924) (citation omitted). In South Carolina, the Legislature codified the Castle Doctrine and extended its reach to include an occupied vehicle and a person's

place of business. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A) (“It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person's home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person's place of business.”). Subsection (C) addresses the use of force by one who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and **who is attacked** in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, **if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself** or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (emphasis added); *see also State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (concluding defendant, who sought immunity under the Act after he fatally shot the victim, was defaulted into S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) where the victim was a social guest and rightfully in the defendant's mother's apartment).

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