THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County
Court of General Sessions

Honorable Carmen Tevis Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-GS-38-0731

RECEIVED

MAY 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina Appellant,

vs.

Charles Thomas Riley Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2016-002123

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

C. Bradley Hutto, Esquire
S.C. Bar No. 6436
WILLIAMS & WILLIAMS
Post Office Box 1084
Orangeburg, SC 29116
(803)-534-5218

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly granted Defendant Charles Riley’s request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the evidence showed Riley was not engaged in unlawful activity, was attacked in a place where he had a right to be, and had the right to stand his ground.

In a pretrial hearing, Riley moved for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, S. C. Code Ann. §16-11-410 *et seq.* (hereinafter the Act) and the common law Castle Doctrine. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A) provides in pertinent part that an individual “who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force *and is immune from criminal prosecution...for the use of deadly force ...*” *Id.* (emphasis added). Immunity under the Act “is therefore a bar to prosecution and, upon motion of either party, must be decided prior to trial.” *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E. 2d 662, 665 (2011); *See also State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E. 2d 263, 265-66 (2013). Moreover, “when a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence.” *Id.* 392 S.C. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665.

CODIFICATION OF THE CASTLE DOCTRINE

The common law Castle Doctrine provides “[o]ne attacked, without fault on his part, on his own premises, has the right, in establishing his plea of self-defense, to claim immunity from the law of retreat, which ordinarily is an essential element of that defense”. *State v. Gordon*, 128 S.C. 422, 425, 122 S.E. 501, 502 (1924). The General Assembly codified the Castle Doctrine and extended its reach to include any place that a person has a right to be.

The General Assembly's intent for passing the Act is stated in S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-420:

(A) It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes *that a person's home is his castle* and to extend the castle doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person's place of business.

(B) The General Assembly finds that it is *proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution* or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.

(C) The General Assembly finds that § 20 Article 1 of the South Carolina Constitution guarantees the right of the people to bear arms, and *this right shall not be infringed*.

(D) The General Assembly finds that persons residing in or visiting this State *have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes*, businesses, and vehicles.

(E) The General Assembly finds that *no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack*.

Because the General Assembly extended the Castle Doctrine beyond a person's home, a court in determining immunity must look to the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) to determine when immunity applies in situations where a person is not in his home.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) provides as follows:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in § 16-1-60. *Id.*

Thus, S. C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) provides immunity to someone who uses deadly force when he is acting lawfully and is being attacked in a place where he has a right to be. This statute requires the following:

- a. That the person seeking immunity not be engaged in unlawful activity; and
- b. That the person seeking immunity be attacked in a place where he has a right to be.

If these two pre-requisites are met, the person is entitled to the following:

- a. the right to stand his ground; and
- b. the right meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person.

In the instance case following the pre-trial hearing, Riley was correctly granted immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). Riley was at home on a Saturday morning minding his own business and therefore not engaged in any unlawful activity. Riley was defending himself from an attack by Green in his own front yard, which was a place Riley had a right to be. Riley had no duty to retreat and had the right to stand his ground. Riley had the right to meet force with force, including deadly force, because he reasonably believed it was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. The Court found all of the required elements were present and granted Riley immunity.

TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT

At the time the incident occurred, Green came onto Defendant's property uninvited, initiated a verbal and physical altercation with Smith - a friend and guest of Defendant's, refused to leave Defendant's property when asked several times by Defendant and his wife, and threatened Defendant; thus the Defendant was without fault in bringing about the difficulty. *See Davis*, 282 at 46, 317 S.E. 2d at 453. Defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining great bodily injury - Defendant had been beaten by Green in the past; Green threatened Defendant when he demanded that Green get off his property; and Defendant believed he saw Green reaching for a gun after Green said "I've got something for you." *Id.* Further, the Court finds a reasonably prudent person of ordinary "firmness and courage" would have entertained the same belief if in the position of the Defendant. *Id.* Therefore, Defendant had no duty to retreat from Green and Defendant was justified in using deadly force because he believed such force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. Immediately following the incident, Defendant put down the shotgun, walked into his home and called 911 to report the incident. Defendant cooperated with law enforcement, made no attempt to conceal any evidence, did not request an attorney, and voluntarily gave both video and written statements to law enforcement.

(Order pp. 4)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pre-trial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review. "*State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E. 2d 263, 266 (2013); *See State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404; 411,709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (recognizing that the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence).

The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless the findings are clearly erroneous. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E. 2d 827, 829 (2001). Review is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.* The appellate court may not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but must determine whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. *Id.* *See generally Felts v. Richland County*, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E. 2d 781, 782 (1991).

(In law actions, the lower court must be affirmed where there is “any evidence” to support its findings). An abuse of discretion occurs on when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *State v. Pittman*, 373, S.C. 527, 647 S.E. 2d 144 (2007).

DISCUSSION

1. Riley was not engaged in any unlawful activity.

On the Saturday morning of the incident, Riley left his home to give his friend Smith a ride to pick up Smith’s his truck. After Smith learned that Green had taken his truck from his niece’s house, Smith asked Riley to take him to the neighborhood where Green lived to get his truck. Riley dropped Smith off and went home. Riley was back at home minding his own business when Green arrived Riley was not engaged in any unlawful activity.

2. Riley was in a place where he had a right to be.

Riley was at home. Riley acted within his rights under the Act and under the common law Castle Doctrine. First, Riley both owned and lived in his home; as such, he held all the sticks in his bundle of rights—including the right to exclude others.¹ Because of the past criminal act by Green against Riley, it cannot be said that Green was a welcome invitee or guest. *See, e.g., State v. Bradley*, 126 S.C. 528, 533, 120 S.E. 240, 242 (1923) (“A man who attempts to force himself into another's dwelling, or who, being in the dwelling by invitation or license refuses to leave when the owner makes that demand, is a trespasser . . .”). Thus, Green’s status was that of a trespasser not only when he forcibly entered onto

¹ As the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly held, “the right to exclude [others is] ‘one of the most essential sticks in the bundle of rights that are commonly characterized as property.’” *Nolan v. California Coastal Comm’n*, 483 U.S. 825, 831 (1987) (quoting *Loretto v. Teleprompter Manhattan CATV Corp.*, 458 U.S. 419, 433 (1982)).

the property of Riley but also at the time when he was shot. *Id.* Riley had the right to ask Green to leave his property. There is no duty to retreat where an attack occurs in one's home. The absence of a duty to retreat also extends to the curtilage of a home, which includes the yard around a dwelling. *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 548 n. 15, 500 S.E.2d 489, 494 n. 15 (1998).

A defendant is entitled to immunity from prosecution pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) when acting in self-defense at a place where he has a right to be. A person's residence is "another place" that he has a right to be. *State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 786 S.E. 2d. 132 (2016).

3. Riley was without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

There is no evidence that Riley was aware of any dispute between Smith and Green regarding the truck. Riley was not present on Friday when Green and Smith had discussions about the truck. (R. p. 281, lines 8-11.) Green had no knowledge that Riley had given Smith a ride to pick up the truck from Green's house. (R. p. 281, lines 12-15). According to Keitt, he and Green did not intentionally go to Riley's house. (R. p. 258, lines 14-23.) In fact, Green and Keitt were not seeking Riley out. The difficulty was brought on when Green saw Smith sitting on Riley's porch and decided to enter Riley's yard. Green knew when he entered the yard that he was entering the home of Charles Riley, a person with whom he had a previous physical altercation. Conversely, Riley was home minding his own business. Riley was unaware that Green was out looking for Smith. (R. p. 121, lines 17-19.) Riley's initial response to Green's presence on his property was to ask him repeatedly to leave. A person who is at home and attempting to eject an unwanted intruder is not at fault in bringing about any difficulty. At the time of the incident, Green came on to Riley's property uninvited and initiated a verbal and physical altercation with Smith.

Green refused to leave the property after being asked several times by Riley and his wife. Green then threatened and assaulted Riley. The trial court properly found that Riley was without fault in bringing about the difficulty, and the record provides clear evidentiary support of its findings.

4. Riley was attacked by Green.

When he entered the Riley property, Green was high on drugs. (R. p. 84, line 25, p. 85, line 5.) Green was mad and upset and looking to confront Jeffery Smith about a drug debt and a truck that was to be used to secure the debt. (R. p. 282, line 22- p. 283, line 5). Green was searching the neighborhood for Smith and the truck when he spotted Smith sitting on the Riley's porch. (R. p. 257, line 24- p. 258, line 11.) Riley did not know about the debt or the dispute about the truck. The car carrying Green sped into Riley's yard, and (R. p. 17, lines 19-22.) Green jumped out assaulted Smith. (R. p. 38, lines 6-12). Upon hearing the commotion, Riley went outside and saw that Green was in his yard. Riley asked Green to leave, (R. p. 22, line 10 – p. 23, line 3.; R. p. 40, lines 14-18.) but Green refused to leave and started arguing with Riley. Green pushed Riley and threatened him by saying "... I got something for you". (R. p. 22, line 19 – p. 23, line 8; R. p. 94, lines 2-12.) The court properly found that Riley was attacked by Green. The attack took place in Riley's front yard, a place where he had a right to be. The record provides clear evidentiary support of the Court's finding that Riley attacked Green.

5. Riley actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustained great bodily injury.

Riley wanted Green out of his yard because in 2012, Riley had been attacked by Green and severely beaten. Green assaulted Riley, beat him with his fists, and kicked and stomped Riley while he was on the ground. (R. p. 87, lines 5-13.) Riley had to seek

medical treatment for his injuries from the severe beating.² Because of this prior criminal conduct by Green directed at Riley, Riley had made it a point to stay away from Green.

When Green appeared in Riley's yard, Riley had reason to fear for his safety. Riley repeatedly told Green "You know you are not supposed to be here". (R. p. 93, lines 11-16.) Green became irate with Riley, and began pushing him. Green was threatening and telling Riley that he "had something for him" and that he "was going to F him up." (R. p. 93, lines 19-21; R. p. 98, lines 1-7.) Riley asked Green to leave but Green refused. Then Riley's wife came onto the porch and asked Green to leave, but Green still refused. Riley testify that he was scared for his life. (R. 123, lines 13-15.)

When it became apparent that Green remained hostile and was refusing to leave, Riley went back into his house. He retrieved a shotgun that was loaded with No. 8 birdshot. (R. 98, lines 8-11.) Riley, with shotgun in hand, walked back onto his front porch. He again told Green to leave his home. (R. p. 98, lines 19-21.) Thomas Keitt, the driver of the car that Green arrived in, testified that he heard Riley tell Green to leave three times. (R. 287, line 22 - p. 288, line 3.) As Riley was exiting his house, Green threatened Riley and said that he had something for Riley. Riley perceived that Green was reaching for something. [(Riley's testimony, R. p. 95, lines 3-7); (Smith's testimony, R. p. 57 lines 14-19); (Keitt's testimony R. p. 285 line 20 - p. 286, line 1.)] Riley believed Green was reaching for a gun. (Riley testimony R. p. 100, line 25 - R. p 101 line 7). Based on Green's previous violent assault of Riley and his present aggression and refusal to heed Riley's repeated warnings to leave, Riley was justified in arming himself with a lawful weapon.

² Medical records from Riley's treatment from the attack describes two black eyes, contusions, closed head injury, possible concussion, and some blurred vision. X-rays were performed to rule out a fracture of the bones near his left eye. Riley was treated by doctors on at least four occasions. He was kept out of work for two weeks. (T. p. 84, lines 19-24.)

Reasonably fearing for his life, Riley fired the gun in self-defense and as allowed by the Castle Doctrine.

In so doing, Riley was aware of—and reacted to—the unlawful and forcible acts of Green. Under these circumstances, Riley’s use of force was justified. Riley had the right to stand his ground. A person being threatened and attacked on his own property has a right to meet force with force under the Act. ³

6. Riley meets the elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat.

In the case at bar, Riley easily meets the elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat, by a preponderance of the evidence. As provided by our Supreme Court, a person is justified in using deadly force in self-defense when:

- (1) The defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- (2) The defendant ... actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- (3) If the defense is based upon the defendant's actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief ...; and

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